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Summary

This report and investigation was commissioned by the Dinedor Heritage Group

as part of the Dinedor Origins Project, a Heritage Lottery funded project. The

i nvestigation was |l ed and report compil e
archaeology service.

The aim of the investigation was to investigate by means of trial excavation a

number of features identified as a result of an earlier measured and geophysical

surveyof the 6site of a medi eval settl ement 6 D
of the investigation led to the identification of evidence for domestic occupation

as well as cultivation and land management practices during the Medieval and

Post-Medieval periods.

This Report follows the practice as formulated by the Institute For Archaeologists (Clfa), Standard and
Gui dance for archaeol ogi cal geophysical survey (CIFA, 2011)
for archaeol ogi cReadind, ingitutel for Archmdologistsi o n 6 .
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1.0 Introduction

The Dinedor Origins Project was established in October 2012 by the Dinedor
Heritage Group after receiving a grant following a successful application to the
Your Heritage scheme, the Heritage Lottery Fund.

The heritage group was established by members of the public local to Dinedor
within the County of Herefordshire in light of a number of archaeological
discoveries as a result of infrastructural development which served to raise the
profile of prehistoric activity, both within the parish of Dinedor and beyond.

In particular these discoveries concerned the activity of Neolithic and Bronze Age
societies, evidence for which came in the form of barrows, settlement sites, burnt
mounds and an apparently unique sinuous monument, entitled locally as the
O0Rot herwas Ribboné6.

With archaeological support, guidance and training provided by Herefordshire
Council 6s archaeol ogi cal service, the Dinedc
the results of the recent discoveries to the general public in the form of a popular

publication, website and promotion of a circular route which will guide walkers to

sites of historic interest across a parish steeped in history.

In support of the documentary research, the Dinedor Group have invited
members of the public, schools and the local sixth form college students to
participate in the archaeological investigation of the little known medieval
heritage of the parish. The investigations addressed within this report discuss
the results of the Dinedor Heritage Groups investigations into the site of a
presumed abandoned medieval settlement site (HE224) located immediately to
the south of Dinedor village. The investigation concerns the results of a
community led trial excavation of the scheduled monument HE224.

Included within this report are the results of the specialist medieval ceramic
analysis (Appendix 5) and the results of the specialist archaeobotanical analysis
(Appendix 6). The full specialist reports can be found in the Appendix of the
report and are referenced throughout the results phase.
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2.0 Location and geology
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Figure 1: Location of evaluation area, Dinedor Parish, Herefordshire, UK. © Crown copyright. All
rights reserved 100024168. (2014)
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The scheduled monument (HE224) is located to the south of Dinedor village
within the parish of Dinedor, Herefordshire (SO 53315 36586). The field in which
the scheduled monument is enclosed measures 2.0 hectares and is situated
upon the gentle east-facing slopes (falls from 71.5m OD in the west to 64.9m OD
to the east) at the foot of a prominent ridgeline known as Dinedor Hill which lies
on a northeast-southwest alignment.

The scheduled monument (HE224) is located at the northern extent of a small
hanging-valley basin where the solid geology is dominated by the Raglan
Mudstone Formation. The high ground that forms the northern, western and
southern extent of the basin consists of the St Maughans Formation of
interbedded argillaceous rocks and sandstone. To the east the basin is marked
by superficial river terrace deposits of sand and gravel beyond which the
topography drops sharply to form the current course of the south-flowing River
Wye. The modern centre of Dinedor is located upon these deposits whereas the
historic core surrounding St Andrews Church was established over superficial
colluvial deposits of clay, silt, sand and gravel to the west.

At the centre of the valley basin are the alluvial deposits attributed to the course

of the now managed Tar o0s B r oasik fromv ithe c h ent e

southwest and flows to the northeast where it flows into the River Wye. The

original course of Tards Brook was far more

course of the brook is visible, preserved within the current parish boundary
between Dinedor and Holme Lacy. During its course through the valley basin

Tarbds Brook is fed by at | east six watercou

and west. The most substantial water course flows through the centre of Dinedor
Village where it is managed to the flow south along the eastern edge of the
scheduled monument (HE224).

3.0 Historical and archaeological background

The origins of the name Dinedor Hedokéhy |l d&ri

andingd6 (fort) i . e. 0 stané-Crowvit990)h Byahe finte roft thée
Norman Conquest, particularly the commissioning of the Domesday Survey in
1086, Dinedor (Dunre) was clearly part of England and formed part of a hundred
of the same name (Thorn 1983). At that time Dinedor was held as two manors,
one by Godric, the other by Wulfheah. Included within the manors was woodland
owned by the King. The manors also contained a mill, most likely located along

(Coppl e

Tards Brook where historically two have sto
5412436 17 6) and Tards Mil |l (SO 52595 34444) .
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There is little information for the now scheduled monument site with the
exception that the current extent of the field made up what was known as
Garrison Meadow at the time of the 1840 Tithe Map production (Gwatkin 1997).

The earliest features identified on the Tithe Map is the site of @he Garrisond , an
L-shaped structure in plan south of St Andrews Church and a small rectangular
structure along the roadside to the southwest (Figure 2).

Prior to the current project very little archaeological work had been carried out at

the site. The monument was scheduled under the Ancient Monuments Acts,
1913 to 1953 by a notice served on the owner under Section 6 of the 1931 Act.

At this earl y dadahwarks, invields callecdbGaeigbhn Mehdaw, 0
immediately S.W. of the church, consist of a series of slight banks and ditches
and two sinkings divided by a bank. They perhaps represent a village sited
(RCHM 1931).

During the 197006s a umndertakeruinm cgder tosrecord/ie plan wa s
the most prominent earthworks across the site. No further investigation into the
site has been carried out at the site until the current investigation.

© Crown

Figure 2. Survey area as depicted at the time of the 1840 Tithe Survey. © Crown copyright
(2014). All rights reserved 100024168. © Crown copyright, 2014, Geoff Gwatkin
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As part of the current project the monument has been the subject of a detailed
survey (figure 3) led by Herefordshire Archaeology (Atkinson, 2013a) and
commissioned by the Dinedor Heritage Group. The investigation consisted of the
recording of standing earthworks visible across the monument. These were
subsequently measured and drawn to a scale of 1:500 and rectified onto both
modern and historic mapping resources. The results would suggest that the
majority of earthworks across the scheduled area relate to a sequence of land
divisions that pre-date the production of the 1840 Tithe Map (the earliest detailed
historic map (Figure 2) resource for Dinedor).

The similarities in form and the presence of potential tree throw holes would

suggest that the land divisions represented earlier areas of both apple and

damson orchards historically common to Dinedor. Of particular interest is the

location of a single L-shaped structure identifiable historically only on the Tithe

map. On the site of the structure, which had been demolished by the time of the

First County Series Survey (1843-1893) stands a raised platform that extends

from the scheduled areaintothecur rent extent of St Andr ewos
to the scale of the structure it may either represent a barn or early hall. The

structure has to the potential to be medieval in origins.

Resistance survey was carried out within two areas (Figure 4) of the scheduled
monument (Atkinson, 2013b); in total 9 x 20m? grids were surveyed. The areas
chosen for survey were determined by the results of the earlier measured survey
of the monument. Area 1 was located within the southwest of the monument in
order to investigate two potential platforms (HER 52393 & 52394) and the
association of a holloway (HER 52392) with the terraced field boundary (HER
52391) to the south. Area 2 was decided upon as it represented the complex
core of the monument with relict boundaries (HER 52402), drains, holloways
(HER 52397 & 52410) and platforms (HER 52406, 52407, 52408) identified
during the initial measured survey (figure 4).

Results of the survey (Figure 5) supported that of the detailed survey identifying
anomalies of high resistance which correlate closely to the well-drained field
enclosures and platforms identified during the course of the measured survey.
Areas of very low resistance appear confined to drainage channels and
holloways.

The structure identified on the Tithe Map of 1840, the site of which was identified
as representing the platform (HER 52406) during the detailed survey (Atkinson,
2013a) was revealed as an area of relatively low resistance with the exception of
its southern edge that indicated an anomaly of high resistance, perhaps
representing demolition debris.

9
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The results of the survey appear to indicate high levels of resistance upon the
terrace slopes of the field enclosures presenting the question as to their original
form and construction.

Of particular interest is a crescent/curved anomaly of high resistance immediately
to the west and southwest of the current extent of the churchyard. The anomaly
is narrow, approximately 2.5m wide and appears to terminate within the southern
extent of the platform HER 52406. The anomaly may represent a path or track
associated to the L-shaped structure identified on the Tithe Map or alternatively
an earlier boundary or stone lined drain.

10
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Figure 3: Results of the measured survey detailing the extent of the standing earthworks. © Crown copyright (2014). All rights reserved 100024168
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Figure 4: Annotated plan of the measured survey, highlighting the key features discussed in this report. © Crown copyright (2014). All rights reserved
100024168
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